#### SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC01-2050

### LEVEL 3 COMMUNICATIONS, LLC

Appellant,

V.

### E. LEON JACOBS, JR., et al.

Appellees.

### AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF LEVEL 3 COMMUNICATIONS, LLC

Michael R. Romano, Esq. Greg L. Rogers, Esq. Level 3 Communications, LLC 1025 Eldorado Boulevard Broomfield, Colorado 80021 (720) 888-7015 (Telephone) (720) 888-5134 (Telecopier) Kenneth A. Hoffman, Esq. Florida Bar No. 307718 Martin P. McDonnell, Esq. Florida Bar No. 301728 Rutledge, Ecenia, Purnell & Hoffman, P.A. P. O. Box 551 Tallahassee, Florida 323302

(850) 681-6788 (Telephone) (850) 681-6515 (Telecopier)

Attorneys for Level 3 Communications, LLC

### **

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS**

Level 3 Communications, LLC ("Level 3") is a multi-faceted communications and information services company. Level 3 currently holds a certificate from the Florida Public Service Commission ("Commission") as an alternative local exchange telecommunications company ("ALEC"). Level 3 generates revenues in Florida from business activities that are not regulated by the Commission. Level 3 also generates revenues in Florida from the provision of telecommunications services that are regulated by the Commission. (V. 1, R. 4-5).

As a certificated ALEC in Florida, Level 3 is required to pay an annual regulatory assessment fee to the Commission of 0.0015 per cent of "its gross operating revenues derived from intrastate business" pursuant to Sections 350.113 and 364.336, Florida Statutes (2001),<sup>2</sup> and Rules 25-4.0161 and 25-24.835, Florida Administrative Code. The fee is to be deposited in the State Treasury to the credit of the Florida Public Service Regulatory Trust Fund and used "in the operation of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Section 364.337(1), Florida Statutes, governs the issuance of certificates to provide alternative local exchange service by the Commission.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Unless otherwise noted, all references in this Initial Brief are to the year 2001 version of the Florida Statutes.

Commission in the performance of the various functions and duties required of it by law."

Prior to the advent of competition in the local telecommunications market in Florida, the incumbent local exchange carriers ("ILECs") enjoyed monopoly status in specific geographic areas and generally controlled the telecommunications hardware networks within their area.<sup>4</sup> One of the many duties imposed on the ILECs by the federal Telecommunications Act of 1996 was the duty to interconnect their networks with the networks of the new ALECs who sought entry into that particular market. See 47 U.S.C. §251(c)(2). Level 3 and many other ALECs interconnected with the ILECs' networks. As part of the ILECs' interconnection obligations, ILECs are required to allow the ALECs to physically collocate their necessary equipment at the ILECs' premises. Section 47 U.S.C. §251(c)(6) governs the ILECs' collocation obligations:

### (6) Collocation

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>§350.113(1), Fla. Stat.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>An ILEC is defined in both federal and Florida law as the traditional monopoly provider of local service. Federal law defines an ILEC, in pertinent part, as the "local exchange carrier that ... on February 8, 1996, provided telephone exchange service...." 47 U.S.C. §251(h). Florida law refers to an ILEC as "local exchange telecommunications company" and defines same as "any company certificated by the Commission to provide local exchange telecommunications service in this state on or before June 30, 1995." §364.02(6), Fla. Stat.

The duty to provide, on rates, terms, and conditions that are just, reasonable, and non-discriminatory, for physical collocation of equipment necessary for interconnection or access to unbundled network elements at the premises of the local exchange carrier, except that the carrier may provide for virtual collocation if the local exchange carrier demonstrates to the state commission that physical collocation is not practical for technical reasons or because of space limitations.

The federally mandated duty of the ILECs to allow ALECs to collocate equipment in the ILEC central offices was intended to allow the ALECs, who were new entrants into the market, access to ILEC facilities necessary to conduct business on equal footing with the ILECs so as to "facilitate competitive deployment of advanced services." ALECs, unlike ILECs, are under no statutory duty to offer collocation to any parties.

An important part of Level 3's business plan for Florida is to lease space in its "Gateway" buildings to independent business enterprises who wish to interconnect with Level 3's networks, other telecommunications, data and Internet carriage

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>In the Matter of Deployment of Wireline Services Offering Advanced Telecommunications Capability, *First Report and Order and Further Notice of Proposed Rulemaking*, CC Docket No. 98-147 (Rel. March 31, 1999), at ¶18, *vacated in part in GTE Service Corporation v. Federal Communications Commission*, 205 F.3d 416 (D.C. Cir. 2000).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Compare 47 U.S.C. §251(b) (obligations of ILECs and ALECs which does not include collocation) with 47 U.S.C. §251(c) (obligations of ILECs which include collocation).

networks, or use the leased space for whatever purpose a third party enterprise deems appropriate. (V. 1, R. 33). Level 3 recognized the expanding market demand for collocation services and has more than 5.5 million square feet of technical space around the world to lease to collocators. (V. 1, R. 34) Level 3 derives revenues from these leases of collocation space in the "Gateway" facilities. Level 3's Gateway facilities are sophisticated technology centers where communications and information services customers can physically locate their equipment in order to connect directly to networks and equipment maintained by Level 3 or any other entity that may be leasing space there as well. (V. 1, R. 33). Most of the equipment in Level 3's Gateways is used in conjunction with the provision of Internet-related services that, pursuant to federal law, are interstate services that are not subject to the Commission's jurisdiction. (V. 1, R. 30).

For calendar year 1999, Level 3 reported and filed with the Commission gross intrastate revenues that reflected the gross intrastate revenues that Level 3 generated from business activities, <u>i.e.</u>, telecommunications services, that are regulated by the Commission. Level 3 did not report or file with the Commission the revenues it

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Order on Remand and Report and Order, *Implementation of the Local Competition Provisions in the Telecommunications Act of 1996*, FCC 01-131, CC Docket Nos. 96-98, and *Intercarrier Compensation for ISP-bound Traffic*, CC Docket No. 99-68 (2001).

generated from its non-regulated collocation enterprises with telecommunication carriers and other third parties.

On August 9, 2000, the Auditing Services Division of the Commission informed Level 3 that it had been randomly selected to have its 1999 regulatory assessment fee filing audited. After conducting the audits, Commission staff concluded that Level 3 should include collocation revenues from 1999 (in the amount of \$381,342.00) as part of its "gross operating revenues derived from intrastate business to calculate the regulatory assessment fee due." (V. 1, R. 4).

In response to the Commission staff's conclusion, Level 3 filed a Petition for a Declaratory Statement (hereinafter "Petition") requesting a determination by the Commission that the revenues generated by providing collocation to third parties in Level 3 Gateways should not be included for the purpose of calculating Level 3's regulatory assessment fees.

In its Petition, Level 3 first asserted that Level 3's collocation revenues resulting from the leasing of real property to other carriers or entities is not a "two-way telecommunications service," and therefore does not fall within the Commission's regulatory authority over "telecommunications companies" under Section 364.02(12),

Florida Statutes.<sup>8</sup> Although the term "telecommunications service" is not defined under Chapter 364, Florida Statutes, relevant definitions are found in the federal Telecommunications Act of 1996. Specifically, under 47 U.S.C. §153(43), the term "telecommunications" is defined to mean:

. . . the transmission between or among points specified by the user, or information of the user's choosing, without change in the form or content of the information as sent and received.

Similarly, under 47 U.S.C. §153(46), the term "telecommunications service" is defined to mean:

... the offering of telecommunications for a fee directly to the public, or to such class of users as to be effectively available directly to the public, regardless of the facilities used.

The Commission issued its Declaratory Statement on August 14, 2001 (the "Final Order"), wherein it held that whether Level 3's collocation revenues were derived from a "two-way telecommunications service" is irrelevant to determining the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Pursuant to Rule 28-105.003, Florida Administrative Code, the Commission may rely on the statements of fact set out in a Petition for Declaratory Statement without taking any position with regard to the validity of the facts. The Commission did not dispute the recitation of facts set forth in Level 3's Petition or in Level 3's responses to the Commission Staff's data requests. (V. 1, R. 117-125).

Commission's authority to collect regulatory assessment fees from the revenues (V. 1, R. 120-122).

Secondly, Level 3 argued in its Petition that the Commission's authority to collect regulatory assessment fees is limited to recovering its costs of regulation under Section 350.113(3), Florida Statutes.<sup>9</sup> As noted above, only ILECs are under any legal obligation to offer collocation in Florida. Level 3's collocation agreements are not subject to Commission regulation or control. Oral argument was heard by the Commission at the July 24, 2001 Agenda Conference, and the following exchange between Commissioner Jaber and staff counsel confirms the complete lack of regulatory oversight by the Commission over Level 3's collocation agreements:

Commissioner Jaber: Ok. So I'm trying to get my hands around what

work we performed for Level 3's collocation agreements. . . . . Do we require them to file their

collocation agreements?

Ms. Brown: No.

Commissioner Jaber: Does our staff review any of their collocation

agreements?

Ms. Brown: No.

Commissioner Jaber: Are they ever included in arbitration matters?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Section 350.113(3), Florida Statutes, provides, in pertinent part, that regulatory assessment fees "shall, to the extent practicable, be related to the cost of regulating such type of regulated company...."

Ms. Brown: No.

See Transcript of July 24, 2001 Agenda Conference (V. 1, R. 55).

Third, Level 3 argued in its Petition that a recent Declaratory Statement issued by the Commission supported its position that regulatory assessment fees are only to be assessed on business activities regulated by the Commission. Verizon Florida, Inc. ("Verizon") filed a petition with the Commission seeking a declaration that it is not required to pay regulatory assessment fees on directory advertising revenues. In *Verizon*, the Commission determined that Verizon is required to pay regulatory assessment fees on the directory advertising revenue of its directory affiliate (Verizon Directories Corp.). This decision is instructive to the issues at hand in the Level 3 matter because in reaching its conclusion, the Commission stated:

Verizon's directory affiliate may not itself meet the terms of a definition of a telecommunications company if it does not offer "two-way telecommunications service." Nevertheless, it is providing a service that Verizon is required to provide by virtue of Verizon being certificated to provide basic local telecommunications service, defined to include an alphabetical directory listing. Section 364.02(2), Fla. Stat. (2000).<sup>11</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>In re: Petition by Verizon Florida, Inc. for Declaratory Statement on Applicability of Section 364.336, F.S. and Rule 25-4.0161, F.A.C., Regulatory Assessment Fees, Docket No. 001556-TL, Order No. PSC-01-0097-DS-TL issued January 11, 2001 ("Verizon").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup><u>Id</u>., at 4.

Thus, under *Verizon*, the Commission's basis for concluding that it could assess the revenues of the affiliate was that the service the affiliate was providing is one that Verizon must offer by virtue of its status as a regulated entity. Proceeding from this logical conclusion, Level 3 argued in its Petition that the rationale for the Commission's decision in *Verizon* supports Level 3's position that collocation revenue is not subject to regulatory assessment fees. In contrast to the regulated service that Verizon is required to provide (either directly or through its affiliate), Level 3 is under no legal obligation to provide collocation to other carriers. While the Commission apparently reached its conclusion in part due to the concern that ILECs and ALECs would be treated differently, ILEC and ALEC regulation has always been asymmetrical. A look at the lower level of obligations placed on ALECs under Section 251(b) of the Act as compared to those more stringent duties placed on ILECs under Section 251(c) of the statute, as discussed *infra*, confirms this point. Moreover, at the Agenda Conference, counsel for Level 3 noted that:

[T]he fundamental underpinnings of telecommunications regulatory law dictate in this instance that ILECs and ALECs be treated differently, and that is the result of the Telecommunications Act itself, that ILECs are regulated as a monopoly provider, and ALECs are regulated as competitive providers. And that exists in Florida ... [statutes] ... in many examples. Tariffing, rate determinations, unbundling of networks, all those are

examples of differen[ces] between how ILECs are treated and ALECs are treated.

See Transcript of July 24, 2001 Agenda Conference (V. 1, R. 44). In other words, there is nothing inherently problematic with the position that Sections 350.113 and 364.336, Florida Statutes, were never intended to impose regulatory assessment fees on the revenues of a regulated telecommunications company that are derived from a non-regulated service even when a similar service offered by an ILEC is a regulated service which is subject to regulatory assessment.

To underscore the point that collocation revenues are not subject to Commission regulation, Level 3's counsel noted that companies that are solely in the collocation business are <u>not</u> subject to regulatory assessment fees:

ALECs are not required to provide any service. However, if they choose to provide services that are regulated, they should be assessed regulatory assessment fees for those services. But there are ALECs that are providing collocation in a corporate structure such that collocation is broken out as a non-regulated entity, and there are non-ALECs who are providing collocation as a non-regulated service because it is not a telecommunications service, and thus, the Commission does not have the jurisdiction to regulate that service, and those providers that are not ALECs are not required to become certificated.

See Transcript of July 24, 2001 Agenda Conference (V. 1, R. 46-47).

Thus, if the same collocation revenues that the Commission seeks to collect regulatory assessment fees from Level 3 were generated by a company that was not a certificated ALEC or was a non-regulated subsidiary of an ALEC, that company would not be required to pay regulatory assessment fees on its collocation revenues despite the fact that the revenues were generated in the precise way that Level 3 generates its collocation revenues. In other words, just because Level 3 holds a certificate, the Commission's ruling allows it to assess everything Level 3 does in Florida, notwithstanding whether the Commission plays any role in overseeing the function in question.

Level 3's assertion that unregulated companies or non-regulated affiliates of certificated ALECs can generate these same collocation revenues and not be subject to regulatory assessment fees was conceded by Commission staff at the July 24, 2001 Agenda Conference as evidenced by the following exchange:

Commissioner Palecki: [I]f Level 3 had broken out a separate real estate

business that was separate and apart from its telecommunications operation and it was called Level 3 Real Estate then we would not have an issue with regard to regulatory assessment fees here, would we?

Ms. Brown: No.

See Transcript of July 24, 2001 Agenda Conference (V. 1, R. 68).

In its Final Order, the Commission either explicitly or implicitly rejected all of Level 3's contentions and held:

the statutes plainly provide that regulatory assessment fees shall be paid by all telecommunications companies based upon their "gross operating revenues derived from intrastate business," and the revenues in question here are gross operating revenues derived from intrastate business. The introductory language of Section 364.336 clearly indicates that no other exclusions should be implied by reference to other statutes.

Final Order, at 6. (emphasis supplied).

Level 3 filed this appeal asserting that the Commission's Final Order determining that the collection of the regulatory assessment fees from revenues generated by Level 3's collocation agreements exceeds the statutory authority of the Commission to regulate ALECs. This court has mandatory jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(2), Florida Constitution, and Section 364.381, Florida Statutes.

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The Commission has no authority to collect regulatory assessment fees from revenues generated by business activity that the Commission is not legislatively authorized to regulate. The Commission's expansive holding that it has the power to collect regulatory assessment fees from revenues generated by business activities it

does not regulate exceeds its statutory authority and discriminates against Level 3 in the competitive market of collocation.

Prior to 1995, the local telecommunications market in Florida was exclusively comprised of ILECs who had monopoly service rights in specific geographic areas. Because each local service market was a monopoly, the Legislature granted the Commission significant regulatory powers over the monopoly ILECs as a "surrogate for competition for monopoly services provided by local exchange telephone companies." In 1995, the Legislature opened the local telecommunications markets to competition through amendments to various sections in Chapter 364, Florida Statutes. The Legislature ordered, among other things: 1) that the Commission grant a certificate of authority to provide alternative local exchange service to any company upon a showing that the applicant has sufficient technical, financial and managerial capability to provide such service in the geographic area proposed to be served; 2) that the Commission eliminate unnecessary regulatory restraints over ALECs; 4 and 3)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>See §364.01(3)(f), Fla. Stat. (1993), now numbered as §364 .01(4)(i), Fla. Stat.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>See §364.337, Fla. Stat. (1995).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>See §§364.01(4)(g), Fla. Stat. (1995).

ordered the Commission to subject ALECs to a lesser level of regulatory oversight than the local exchange telecommunications companies.<sup>15</sup>

Level 3 is a diverse company engaging in telecommunications and other businesses. Level 3 sought and received a certificate from the Commission to become a telecommunications provider (an ALEC) in Florida. The certificate *authorizes* Level 3 to provide "basic local telecommunications service." Such services - - the only ALEC services the Commission regulates - - do not include collocation.

The stated purpose for granting the Commission the authority to collect a regulatory assessment fee is to generate the revenue necessary to offset the costs for the Commission's performance of its regulatory duties. <sup>16</sup> It clearly and logically follows that regulatory assessment fees must be related to the cost of regulation. The Commission admittedly does not regulate Level 3's collocation enterprise in any respect. The only collocation agreements the Commission regulates - and thus the only collocation arrangements that generate any regulatory cost for the Commission - are those that ILECs are *required* to offer pursuant to the Act. There is no cost of regulation and no function for the Commission to perform in regard to Level 3's collocation business. The leasing of floor space to third parties in Level 3's buildings

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>See §364.01(4)(d), Fla. Stat. (1995).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>See §350.113(3), Fla. Stat.

is simply not an activity that is regulated by the Commission. The Commission's Final Order penalizes Level 3 by placing it in the position of competing against other companies leasing similar collocation space who pay no regulatory assessment fees to the Commission solely because they are not also ALECs.

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