SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LEVEL 3 COMMUNICATIONS, LLC) CASE NO. SC01-2050		
Appellant,) CASE NO. SC01-2030		
v.)		
E. LEON JACOBS, JR., et al.)		
Appellees.)		
	/		
APPEAL FROM THE FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION			
AMENDED ANSWI			
FLORIDA PUBLIC SER	RVICE COMMISSION 		

HAROLD MCLEAN General Counsel Florida Bar No. 193591

MARTHA CARTER BROWN Associate General Counsel Florida Bar No. 261866

FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE

COMMISSION

2540 Shumard Oak Blvd. Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0862 (850) 413-6187

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In the Declaratory statement proceeding below, Level 3 asked the Commission to declare that its revenues from collocation were not subject to regulatory assessment fees, because they were not "gross operating revenues derived from intrastate business" under sections 350.113(3)(b) and 364.336, Florida Statutes. The Commission held otherwise. It determined that the collocation revenues were revenues derived from intrastate business, and they did not fall within the specific exceptions and exclusions explicitly defined in the statute's language. Reading the statutory language as written, the Commission declined to infer that "intrastate business" actually meant "intrastate telecommunications business", or "business derived from a regulated service." The Commission's declaratory statement Order is entitled to great weight and should be affirmed absent a showing that it was clearly erroneous.

The Commission's decision interpreting its regulatory assessment fee statutes was reasonable and within its authority to make. The Commission did not exceed its statutory authority by interpreting its own statute. It correctly decided that section 350.113, Florida Statutes, applies to the Commission's total cost to regulate, not the particular costs of regulating a specific service, and section 364.336 applies to the total business revenues of a telecommunications company, not to the particular revenues derived from a specific service. It also correctly determined that the scope of the fee statutes was not limited to so-called "regulated services, but covered "intrastate business", a term that is more inclusive than Level 3's narrow interpretation.

The Commission correctly considered Chapter 364's statutory framework when

it interpreted its fee statutes. That framework encompasses broad regulatory responsibilities and powers with regard to the telecommunications industry. In the exercise of that power and responsibility, the Commission incurs costs of regulation that cannot be directly and specifically attributable either to a specific company or specific services that companies provide. Recognizing this fact, and the impracticality of attempting such an assessment fee regime, the regulatory fee statutes wisely do not require that effort.

The lynch-pin of Level 3's argument is the categoric assertion that its collocation service is not a telecommunications service and not a regulated service. Aside from the fact that the clear language of the statute states that fees attach to all gross revenues from intrastate business, the Commission correctly questioned Level 3's argument that collocation was not telecommunications service. Collocation is a means and method of interconnection, and interconnection is a fundamental duty of all telecommunications providers. In Florida "service is to be construed in its broadest and most inclusive sense. And although Level 3 was not required to provide collocation, when it chose to do so, its revenues were subject to regulatory assessment fees.

The <u>Verizon</u> declaratory statement Order is distinguishable on its facts and is not relevant to this case, and the Commission's decision was constitutionally sound.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review. The Court should give great weight to the Commission's interpretation of its regulatory assessment fee statutes and should uphold the Declaratory Statement Order absent a showing that the interpretation was clearly erroneous.

In the declaratory statement proceeding below, Level 3 asked the Commission to interpret its regulatory assessment fee statutes to exclude an ALEC's collocation revenues from the assessment fee calculation on the grounds that collocation was neither a "telecommunications" service under federal law, a "regulated" service, nor a service Level 3 was "required" to provide. Level 3 argued that the two statutes at issue were never intended to capture collocation revenues in calculating regulatory assessment fees, and therefore were not "gross operating revenues derived from intrastate business" under Sections 350.113(3)(b) and 364.336, Florida Statutes. The Commission reviewed its statutes in light of the question and the facts that Level 3 presented, and determined that the statutes did include collocation revenues as gross operating revenues derived from intrastate business.

The case below was a statutory interpretation case, and it remains so in this appeal. The question is not whether the Commission exceeded its statutory authority. The Commission had the authority to issue its declaratory statement. Section 120.565, Florida Statutes. The Commission had the authority to interpret its regulatory statutes. PW Ventures v. Nichols, 533 So.2d 281 (Fla. 1988). The question is whether the interpretation it made was correct, and the appropriate standard of review of that interpretation is the clearly erroneous standard.

Commission orders come to this Court clothed with the presumption of validity. Florida Interexchange Carriers Association v. Clark, 678 So.2d 1267, GTC, Inc. v. Garcia, 791 So.2d 452 (Fla. 2001). The Commission's interpretation of a statute it is charged with enforcing is entitled to great deference. <u>United Telephone Co. v. Public</u> Service Commission, 496 So.2d 116,118 (Fla. 1986) (". . . and will be approved by this Court if it is not clearly erroneous.) See also, Florida Cable Television v. Deason, 635 So.2d 14,15 (Fla. 1994); Floridians for Responsible Utility Growth v. Beard, 621 So. 2d 410 (Fla. 1993). The party challenging the Commission's order has the burden of overcoming these presumptions by showing a departure from the essential requirements of law, <u>City of Tallahassee v. Mann</u>, 411 So. 2d 162, 164 (Fla. 1981), and in a statutory interpretation case it is not sufficient to demonstrate that another interpretation of the statute is possible, or even preferable, to the Commission's. Level 3 must show that the Commission's interpretation is clearly erroneous. D.A.B. Constructors, Inc. v. Dept. of Transportation, 656 So.2d 940 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995) Level 3 cannot avoid its burden, the deference due the Commission's interpretation, or the clearly erroneous standard of review, simply by claiming now that the Commission exceeded its statutory authority in making the interpretation that it did. Initial Brief, p. 16.

II. The Commission's decision interpreting its regulatory assessment fee statutes to include Level 3's collocation revenues was reasonable and well within its authority to make.

Sections 350.113, and 364.336, Florida Statutes, prescribe the formula by which the Commission calculates its costs and collects fees needed to cover those costs

from telecommunications companies. The statutes in effect create an equation for the fair calculation and collection of regulatory fees. Section 350.113 establishes the Commission's side of the equation - the creation of the Commission's regulatory trust fund, the calculation of the Commission's regulatory costs, and the maximum fee rate that the Commission can assess. Section 350.113(3) applies generally to all regulated companies subject to the Commission's jurisdiction, and it requires that the calculation of the Commission's costs "shall, to the extent practicable, be related to the cost of regulating such type of regulated company." Subsections (3)(a)-(e) identify the types of companies subject to the fees and establish a maximum rate that the Commission can assess against each type.¹

The regulated companies' side of the equation - the calculation of the companies' revenues against which the Commission may assess its fees - is prescribed in the statutes for each regulated industry and is tailored to that industry. For telecommunications companies the relevant statute is section 364.336, Florida Statutes.² Section 364.336 sets the maximum rate at which the Commission can assess a regulatory fee to 0.025 percent, provides for a deduction of amounts paid to

¹ Section 350.113(3)(b), Florida Statutes. Subsection 3(a) establishes the maximum rate for railroads, subsection 3(c) establishes the rate for electric and gas "public utilities" as defined in section 366.02, Florida Statutes, subsection 3(d) establishes the rate for municipal electric utilities and rural electric cooperatives, and subsection 3(e) establishes the rate for water and wastewater companies regulated under chapter 367, Florida Statutes.

² See section 366.14, Florida Statutes, governing regulatory assessment fees for electric and gas utilities, municipal electric utilities and rural electric cooperatives. See section 367.145 governing fees for water and wastewater utilities, and section 368.109 governing fees for intrastate natural gas pipelines.

other telecommunications providers for use of their facilities from the amount subject to assessment, and permits the Commission the discretion to collect fees on an annual rather than a semi-annual basis. It provides that all regulated telecommunications companies will pay an assessment fee based on their "gross operating revenues derived from intrastate business."

Both statutes are integral to the fair calculation of regulatory assessment fees. Each side of the equation is necessary, but they are not interchangeable, and the requirements of one are not necessarily relevant or applicable to the other. One of the problems with Level 3's arguments in this appeal is that it blurs the distinction between the standard in section 350.113 applicable to the Commission's calculation of its regulatory costs ("shall, to the extent practicable, be based on the cost of regulating such type of regulated company") and the standard in section 364.336 applicable to the regulated companies' calculation of their regulatory fees ("gross operating revenues derived from intrastate business") The standard in section 350.113 applies to the Commission's total costs to regulate all telecommunications companies, not the particular costs of regulating individual telecommunications companies, nor the costs of regulating a specific telecommunications service. The standard in section 364.336

³ For purposes of calculating regulatory assessment fees for telecommunications companies, section 364.336 is the more specific statute, not section 350.113. Level 3 is simply incorrect when it argues otherwise. Initial Brief, page 21. Furthermore, in case of a conflict with section 350.113 or any other regulatory statute, section 364.336 states clearly that its provisions would control, "[n]otwithstanding any provisions of law to the contrary."

applies to the total intrastate business revenues of a telecommunications company, not to the particular revenues derived from a specific service offering.

The regulatory assessment fee equation that the Legislature established in section 350.113 and 364.336 recognizes that the Commission's regulatory expenses can vary considerably from year to year, and it spreads the costs of regulation equally among all telecommunications companies. Under the current regulatory scheme, if the Commission's costs rise all telecommunications companies share the increased cost burden through an increase in the assessment rate. If the Commission incurs limited or no costs of regulating a particular company in a particular year, if the Commission practices less regulatory oversight of competitive providers, or incurs few or no costs related to a particular service, all telecommunications companies benefit. The reduced costs are ultimately reflected in a lower assessment fee rate for all companies.

A. Neither section 350.113(3), nor section 364.336, Florida Statutes, limit the imposition of regulatory assessment fees to revenues derived from so-called "regulated" services.

In its petition and in its Initial Brief, Level 3 asserts that the collocation service it provides in its Gateway facilities to other communications providers is neither a telecommunications service nor a service it is required to provide as a regulated telecommunications company. (R-4) Initial Brief, page 28. Level 3 then argues that the term "gross operating revenues" excludes revenues derived from services that are not telecommunications services or regulated services. Even if it could fairly be argued that collocation services provided by a telecommunications company are not

telecommunications services, which the Commission found questionable⁴, the assessment fee statutes make no distinctions based on the type of service a telecommunications company provides.

Level 3 claims that the Commission somehow ignored the requirements of section 350.113 because it did not interpret the phrase "gross operating revenues derived from intrastate business" to really mean "gross operating revenues derived from intrastate telecommunications or regulated services." (Initial Brief, pages 20-22) The Commission did not ignore section 350.113. It simply did not interpret that statute or section 364.336 as Level 3 wanted. The Commission concentrated on section 364.336, because that is the statute applicable to the question Level 3 asked: are collocation revenues gross revenues derived from intrastate business for purposes

I think it would still be arguable if they rented space to a telecom company that was just using it for general office purposes. But when they're renting the space to a telecom company that uses it to interconnect with Level 3's system, perhaps it becomes more clear that this is a telecom purpose that should be subject to a regulatory assessment fee. (R-58)

Twice Commissioner Baez addressed the categoric assumption that collocation was not a telecommunications service.

. . . .

⁴ Commissioner Palecki:

^{... [}T]he question of the petition carries with it some implication that collocation isn't a telecommunications service. Now I would like that - I mean, are we answering that question? I would like to know. I have that question. (R-86)

That's my concern, and I'm not sure that I'm comfortable with agreeing with the basis for Level 3's assertion that collocation is not a telecommunications service under every circumstance. (R-89)

of calculating a telecommunications company's regulatory assessment fees? The Commission considered section 350.113 at its Agenda Conference and in it's Order, to the extent that it was relevant to the question before it.

Reading the statutes as written, the Commission correctly concluded that the assessment fee statutes do not tie the calculation of regulatory fees to services of any particular kind, but to "intrastate business," a term that is more inclusive than the interpretation Level 3 propounds. "The language of the statute accounts for the fact that the Commission's regulation encompasses much activity that cannot be tied to any specific services that a regulated company may offer." Order, page 5. (App-1) At the Agenda Conference, in response to Commissioner Palecki's concern about the lack of information in the proceeding about the costs of regulation under section 350.113, Commissioner Deason correctly described the effect of the statute this way;

That particular section of the statute, I've always interpreted that that was to try to bring some parity or equity between the various industries that we regulate, not necessarily companies within an industry and that's why we have different regulatory assessment fees

Now I would agree in a perfect world, a cost causer would pay what he or she causes for the system. And if we go down that road a long distance we may end up, for example, when we send an auditor to a company to audit their books, we would send them a bill for the number of hours that the auditor was there. I don't think we want to get to that. I mean, what we have here is a surrogate for what the company is causing in terms of costs. . . .

It's not a per service thing. It's revenue for a company. If a company is certificated to do business in Florida, they're regulated, and we have - as a surrogate of the cost they impose, we just say we're going to impose a percentage to your intrastate business revenues. (R-92, 93, 94, 97)

B. The Commission appropriately considered the statutory scheme in its interpretation of its assessment fee statutes.

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